

# Ohio Legislative Service Commission

Office of Research and Drafting Legislative Budget Office

H.B. 232

134<sup>th</sup> General Assembly

# **Bill Analysis**

Version: As Introduced

Primary Sponsors: Reps. Howse and Miranda

Paul Luzzi, Attorney

# SUMMARY

### Pay equity in public employment

- Requires public employers to establish a job evaluation system to identify and eliminate sex-based wage disparities among female-dominated, male-dominated, and balanced classes of employees.
- Requires public employers to submit an implementation report to the Director of Budget and Management every three years, and requires the Director to submit a report on employers' compliance status to the General Assembly annually.
- Creates a penalty for a state agency that fails to submit an implementation report or that does not make compensation changes to comply with the bill's requirements.
- Specifies factors regarding compensation that fact-finding panels or conciliators must consider when settling disputes under the Public Employees' Collective Bargaining Law.

#### Equal pay certificates

- Requires a contractor or person submitting a bid or other proposal for a state contract or a business entity applying for a grant or other economic incentive from a state agency to obtain an equal pay certificate.
- Allows the Director of Administrative Services (DAS Director) to suspend or revoke a certificate and a state agency to abridge or terminate a contract or revoke a grant or other economic incentive.
- Allows the DAS Director to audit a contractor, person, or business entity to determine compliance with the bill's equal pay certificate requirements.
- Requires the DAS Director to submit a report regarding equal pay certificates to the Governor and the General Assembly every two years.

#### Prospective employees' past wages or salary

- Prohibits, generally, an employer from requesting information regarding or seeking a prospective employee's wage or salary history from the prospective employee or the prospective employee's current or former employer.
- Prohibits an employer from requiring that a prospective employee's prior wage or salary history satisfy certain criteria.
- Allows an employer to request, seek, or confirm information about a prospective employee's wage or salary history when the employee has voluntarily disclosed wage or salary information or when the employer has made an offer of employment with stated compensation.
- Allows the Ohio Civil Rights Commission to investigate a complaint regarding a violation of the bill's prospective employee wage and salary history prohibitions.
- Requires the Commission to provide notice and a hearing in accordance with the Administrative Procedure Act if, after the investigation, the Commission determines it is probable that the employer has violated the bill's prohibitions.
- Requires the Commission to order an employer to complete a remedial training course conducted by the Commission if, after the hearing, the Commission determines the employer has violated the bill's prohibitions.
- Allows the Commission to refer subsequent violations or failure to complete the required remedial training by an employer to the Attorney General for commencement of a lawsuit for any relief the Attorney General considers necessary to enforce the bill's provisions, including costs.

#### **Retaliation for discussing wages**

 Prohibits an employer from retaliating against an employee that discusses the employee's salary or wage rate with another employee.

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

Public employer pay equity	3
Reasonable compensation relationships	3
Job evaluation system	4
Public employer implementation reports	4
Review of implementation reports and notification of compliance	5
Penalties	6
Report to the General Assembly	6
Collective bargaining	7
Settlement of disputes	7
Unlawful discriminatory practices	7

Definitions – public employer pay equity	8
Equal pay certificates	8
Application	9
Issuing or rejecting a certificate	10
Suspending or revoking a certificate	10
Abridging or terminating a contract or revoking a grant	11
Audit	11
Report	12
Definitions – equal pay certificates	12
Prospective employees' past wages or salary	13
Retaliation for discussing wages	14
Bill title	14

LSC

# **DETAILED ANALYSIS**

### Public employer pay equity

The bill requires every Ohio public employer (a state agency or a political subdivision) to establish equitable compensation relationships between female-dominated, male-dominated, and balanced classes to eliminate sex-based wage disparities, subject to the Public Employees' Collective Bargaining Law (PECBL) and the Prevailing Wage Law (see **COMMENT** 1). An "equitable compensation relationship" means that the compensation for female-dominated classes (any class in which 70% or more of the members are female) is not consistently below the compensation for male-dominated classes (any class in which 80% or more of the members are male) of comparable work value. A public employer must make the comparable work value of a position in relationship to other positions a primary consideration in negotiating, establishing, recommending, and approving compensation. "Comparable work value" means the value of work measured by skill, effort, responsibility, and working conditions normally required in the performance of the work.<sup>1</sup>

#### **Reasonable compensation relationships**

The Director of Administrative Services (DAS Director), when establishing a job classification plan and assigning pay ranges, and any other public employer with the authority to determine employee compensation, must assure all of the following, as applicable:

 That compensation for positions in the classified civil service and unclassified civil service bear reasonable relationship to one another;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> R.C. 142.02 and 142.01.

- That compensation for positions bears a reasonable relationship to similar positions outside of that particular employer;
- That compensation for positions within the employer's workforce bears a reasonable relationship among classes and among levels within the same occupation group.

A public employer also must assure that the provisions described above occur in preparation for negotiating a collective bargaining agreement, if applicable. Under the bill, compensation for a position bears a "reasonable relationship" to another position if both of the following are satisfied:

- Positions requiring comparable skill, effort, responsibility, working conditions, and other factors have comparable compensation;
- Positions with differing skill, effort, responsibility, working conditions, and other work-related criteria have compensation that is proportional to the skill, effort, responsibility, working conditions, and other relevant work-related criteria required.<sup>2</sup>

#### Job evaluation system

Every public employer must establish a job evaluation system to determine the comparable work value of the work performed by each class of the public employer's employees. The public employer must meet and confer with the employees' exclusive representative (union) on the development or selection of a job evaluation system. A public employer may adopt a system already established by another public employer. A public employer must update the public employer's system to account for new employee classes and changes in factors affecting the comparable work value of existing classes. The public employer must notify the Director of Budget and Management (OBM Director) if the public employer substantially modifies an existing system or adopts a new job evaluation system.

Every public employer must submit a report on the results of the job evaluation system to the exclusive representative of the employer's employees to be used by both parties in negotiations for collective bargaining agreements. The report must contain information on (1) the female-dominated classes for which compensation inequity exists, based on the comparable work value, and (2) all data not on individuals used to support the finding in (1) immediately above.<sup>3</sup>

#### **Public employer implementation reports**

Every three years a public employer must submit an implementation report to the OBM Director. The report must contain the following information as of December 31 of the preceding year:

• A list of all of the public employer's job classes;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> R.C. 142.03 and 4117.08(D).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> R.C. 142.04 and 142.05.

- The number of employees in each class and the number of female employees in each class;
- An identification of each class as male-dominated, female-dominated, or balanced;
- The comparable work value of each class as determined by the job evaluation system used by the public employer;
- The minimum and maximum salary for each class, if salary ranges have been established, and the amount of time in employment required to qualify for the maximum salary;
- Any additional cash compensation paid to class members;
- Any additional information requested by the OBM Director.

The OBM Director must adopt rules in accordance with the Administrative Procedure Act to establish a schedule to stagger the submission of the implementation reports. The first set of reports is due to the OBM Director by January 31 immediately following the bill's effective date.<sup>4</sup>

#### **Review of implementation reports and notification of compliance**

The OBM Director must review all implementation reports the OBM Director receives to determine whether a public employer has established equitable compensation relationships as required by the bill. The OBM Director must notify a public employer in writing if the employer is in compliance with those requirements. If an employer is not in compliance, the OBM Director must issue a written statement to the employer that includes a detailed description of the basis for the noncompliance finding, specific recommended actions the public employer must take to comply with those requirements, and an estimate of the cost for the public employer to comply.

A public employer who disagrees with a finding of noncompliance must notify the OBM Director in writing. The OBM Director must provide the employer a specified time period to submit additional evidence to support the employer's claim that the employer is in compliance. That evidence may include any of the following:

- Recruitment or retention difficulties;
- Recent conciliation awards made under the PECBL that are inconsistent with equitable compensation relationships under the bill;
- Information that demonstrates that the employer made a good faith effort to comply with the bill, including constraints faced by the employer;
- A plan for the employer to comply with the bill's equitable compensation relationship requirements.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> R.C. 142.06(A).

The public employer must specify a date for additional review by the OBM Director when submitting the required evidence.<sup>5</sup>

#### Penalties

A state agency that fails to submit an implementation report to the OBM Director or that does not make changes to comply with the bill's equitable compensation relationship requirements within a reasonable period established by the Director is subject to a fine of \$100 for each day the agency is noncompliant. The penalty remains in effect until the agency can demonstrate that it is in compliance with the bill's requirements. The Director may suspend a penalty for any of the following reasons:

- The state agency's failure to comply was attributable to circumstances beyond its control;
- The failure to comply was attributable to the state agency's severe hardship;
- The noncompliance is due to factors other than the sex of the members of the affected classes, and the state agency is taking steps to comply with the bill to the extent possible.

An agency may appeal a penalty to the Director within 30 days after the Director assesses the penalty. The Director cannot impose a penalty while an appeal is pending.<sup>6</sup>

The bill does not specify a penalty for political subdivision noncompliance.

#### **Report to the General Assembly**

The bill requires the OBM Director to submit a result-based accountability report on the status of public employers' compliance with the bill's equitable compensation relationship requirements to the General Assembly by January 1 immediately following the bill's effective date, and annually thereafter. The report must contain the following information:

- A list of the public employers in compliance with the bill's equitable compensation relationship requirements;
- The estimated cost for each employer to be compliant with those requirements;
- A list of the public employers the OBM Director found to not be in compliance and the basis for the OBM Director's finding;
- A list of recommended changes noncompliant employers must make for compliance;
- The estimated cost for each employer to become compliant;
- A list of the public employers that did not comply with the reporting requirement (see "Public employer implementation reports," above);

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> R.C. 142.07(A), (B), and (C).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> R.C. 142.07(D) and (E), 142.06(B), and 142.01(K).

- The number of female employees in each public employers' job class;
- Any additional information the OBM Director determines the General Assembly needs to know from a public employer.<sup>7</sup>

#### **Collective bargaining**

Regardless of the unfair labor practices created under continuing law, such as failure to bargain, it is not an unfair labor practice for a public employer to specify an amount of funds to be used solely for correcting inequitable compensation relationships. Additionally, nothing in the bill diminishes the duty of a public employer to bargain in good faith under the PECBL or limits the ability of the parties to collectively bargain in good faith.<sup>8</sup>

#### Settlement of disputes

The bill requires a fact-finding panel or conciliator appointed under the PECBL to consider all of the following in any settlement of a dispute involving a class other than a balanced class:

- The equitable compensation relationship standards established in the bill;
- The reasonable compensation relationships established in the bill;
- The results of a job evaluation system conducted under the bill, and any employee objections to that job evaluation system.

"Balanced class" means any class in which not more than 80% of the members are male and not more than 70% of the members are female.

In the settlement of disputes involving a balanced class, a fact-finding panel or conciliator must consider similar classifications of other public employers. The fact-finding panel or conciliator also may consider equitable compensation relationship standards established under the bill, as well the results of and any employee objections to a job evaluation system conducted under the bill. The parties to collective bargaining involving a balanced class must consider similar classifications of other public employers and may consider equitable compensation relationship standards and the results of a job evaluation system.<sup>9</sup>

#### Unlawful discriminatory practices

The bill allows the Ohio Civil Rights Commission or a state court to use either of the following as evidence in any proceeding or action alleging that an unlawful discriminatory practice, as defined in Ohio's Civil Rights Law, has been committed:

The results of any job evaluation system established under the bill;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> R.C. 142.08.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> R.C. 142.02 and 142.09.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> R.C. 4117.141 and 142.01.

The report a public employer is required to submit to the exclusive representative of the employer's employees (see "Job evaluation system," above).<sup>10</sup>

#### **Definitions – public employer pay equity**

The bill defines the following additional terms for the public employer pay equity portion of the bill:

"Class" means one or more positions in public employment that have similar duties, responsibilities, and general qualifications necessary to perform the duties, with comparable selection procedures used to recruit employees, and use of the same compensation schedule.

"Position" means a group of current duties and responsibilities assigned or delegated by a supervisor to an employee.<sup>11</sup>

#### **Equal pay certificates**

The bill prohibits a state agency from awarding a contract, grant, or other economic incentive to any of the following entities unless the entity obtains an equal pay certificate under the bill or is exempt from that requirement:

- A contractor wishing to be awarded a state contract for a public improvement;
- A person wishing to provide goods or services to a state agency;
- A business entity wishing to be awarded a grant or other economic incentive, including any grant or other economic incentive awarded by a state agency on the recommendation of JobsOhio.

This requirement applies to contractors, persons, and business entities that employ four or more full-time employees on any day in the prior year in the state where the entity has its principal place of business.

A contractor, person, or business entity is not required to obtain a certificate for a specific contract, grant, or other economic incentive if the DAS Director determines that obtaining a certificate would cause undue hardship to the contractor, person, or business entity. The DAS Director must adopt rules in accordance with the Administrative Procedure Act to define "undue hardship" and to establish procedures to apply for and requirements to obtain an exemption.

A certificate is valid for four years and may be renewed in accordance with rules adopted by the DAS Director under the bill. The DAS Director must provide technical assistance to a contractor, person, or business entity that requests assistance regarding compliance with the bill's requirement to obtain a certificate or exemption.<sup>12</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> R.C. 142.10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> R.C. 142.01.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> R.C. 4145.02 and 4145.03(C).

#### Application

To apply for a certificate, a contractor, person, or business entity must submit a \$25 filing fee and an equal pay compliance statement signed by the contractor, person, or the chief executive officer of the business entity to the DAS Director. The filing fees must be deposited in the state treasury to the credit of the Equal Pay Certificate Fund created in the bill and used to administer the bill's equal pay certificate provisions. Interest on investment is credited to the Fund. The equal pay compliance statement must contain all of the following information:

- That the contractor, person, or business entity is in compliance with Title VII of the federal Civil Rights Act,<sup>13</sup> the federal Equal Pay Act,<sup>14</sup> Ohio's Civil Rights Law,<sup>15</sup> and Ohio's Equal Pay Law;<sup>16</sup>
- That the average compensation for female employees is not consistently below the average compensation for male employees within each major job category in the contractor's, person's, or business entity's EEO-1 Report (if the contractor, person, or business entity is required to file that report), taking into account length of service, requirements of specific jobs, experience, skill, effort, responsibility, working conditions, and other mitigating factors;
- That employees of one sex are not restricted to certain job classifications;
- That the contractor, person, or business entity makes retention and promotion decisions without regard to sex;
- That compensation and benefit disparities are corrected when identified;
- The frequency in which compensation and benefits are evaluated to ensure compliance with the federal and Ohio laws listed above;
- The approach the contractor, person, or business entity uses to set compensation and benefits, including market pricing, state prevailing wage or collective bargaining agreement requirements, a performance pay system, internal analysis, or an alternative approach described by the contractor, person, or entity;
- That an employee may contact the human resources department and request to see how the employee's compensation compares with other employees in jobs of "comparable skill, effort, responsibility, and working conditions."

An "EEO-1 report" is the report required by the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission that private sector employers with 100 or more employees must file and that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> 42 United States Code (U.S.C.) 2000e *et seq.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> 29 U.S.C. 206(d).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> R.C. Chapter 4112, not in the bill.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> R.C. 4111.17, not in the bill.

includes employment data for all employees of the employer during a selected payroll period, broken down by sex and race or ethnic category for each of the job categories included in the report.<sup>17</sup>

The receipt of a statement by the DAS Director does not establish a contractor's, person's, or business entity's compliance with the federal and Ohio laws listed above. Any data on individuals submitted to the DAS Director in the statement is confidential and is not a public record under Ohio's Public Records Law.<sup>18</sup>

#### Issuing or rejecting a certificate

The DAS Director must issue a certificate to a contractor, person, or business entity within 15 days after receiving an application. The DAS Director may only reject an application if a contractor, person, or business entity submits a statement that does not comply with the bill's requirements or fails to submit the required filing fee. If the DAS Director rejects the application, the DAS Director must issue a statement explaining the reason for the rejection to the contractor, person, or business entity within 15 days after receiving the application. A record of the DAS Director's decision to issue or not issue a certificate is a public record.<sup>19</sup>

#### Suspending or revoking a certificate

Under the bill, the DAS Director may suspend or revoke a contractor's, person's, or business entity's certificate in accordance with the Administrative Procedure Act for any of the following reasons:

- The contractor, person, or business entity fails to comply with the federal and Ohio laws listed in the bill (see "Application," above);
- The contractor, person, or business entity has multiple violations of the federal and Ohio laws listed in the bill;
- The contractor, person, or business entity failed to comply with the bill's requirement to obtain a certificate or an exemption (see COMMENT 2).

The DAS Director must provide a contractor, person, or business entity the opportunity to comply with the bill's requirements regarding obtaining a certificate or exemption or complying with the equal pay compliance statement before suspending or revoking the certificate. The DAS Director must notify a contractor, person, or business entity by certified mail of the DAS Director's decision to suspend or revoke the certificate. A record of the DAS Director's decision to revoke the certificate is a public record.<sup>20</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> R.C. 4145.03(A) and 4145.09; Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, 2019 & 2020 EEO-1 Data Collection, available here.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> R.C. 4145.03(B) and 4145.07, by reference to R.C. 149.43, not in the bill.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> R.C. 4145.03(C) and 4145.07.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> R.C. 4145.04(A), 4145.05(A), and 4145.07.

#### Abridging or terminating a contract or revoking a grant

A state agency, in accordance with the Administrative Procedure Act, may abridge or terminate a contract with a contractor or person, or revoke a grant or other economic incentive from a business entity on notice that the DAS Director has suspended or revoked the contractor's, person's, or business entity's certificate. The state agency must notify the contractor, person, or business entity by certified mail of the decision to abridge or terminate the contractor's or person's contract or to revoke the business entity's grant or other economic incentive.

The DAS Director may void a contract or revoke a grant or other economic incentive on behalf of a state agency if a contractor, person, or business entity is not in compliance with the bill's requirements regarding obtaining a certificate or exemption or complying with the equal pay compliance statement, after notifying the state agency that has the contract with a contractor or person or has awarded the grant or other economic incentive.<sup>21</sup>

#### Audit

Under the bill, the DAS Director may audit a contractor, person, or business entity to determine whether that contractor, person, or business entity is in compliance with the requirement to obtain a certificate or exemption and with the requirements of an equal pay compliance statement. The contractor, person, or business entity being audited must provide the DAS Director with information for each employee expected to work under the contract, grant, or other economic incentive for each of the major job categories included in the contractor's, person's, or business entity's EEO-1 Report (the bill does not address how to categorize employees of an employer who is not required to submit an EEO-1 Report). As a part of the audit, the contractor, person, or business entity must also provide all of the following information to the DAS Director:

- The number of male employees and female employees;
- The average length of service for male employees and for female employees within each major job category;
- The average annualized salaries paid to male employees and to female employees within each major job category, in the manner most consistent with the approach the contractor, person, or business entity uses in setting compensation and benefits;
- Performance pay, benefits, and other elements of compensation, in the manner most consistent with the approach the contractor, person, or business entity uses in setting compensation and benefits;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> R.C. 4145.04(B) to (D) and 4145.05(B).

 Other information the DAS Director determines to be necessary in determining compliance with the bill.<sup>22</sup>

#### Report

Beginning January 31, 2022, and every two years after that date, the DAS Director must submit a results-based accountability report to the Governor and the General Assembly on the activities of the Department of Administrative Services in issuing certificates under the bill. The report must contain all of the following information:

- The number of certificates issued;
- The name of each contractor, person, and chief executive officer who signed an equal pay compliance statement;
- For each year, the number of contracts awarded for public improvements, contracts awarded to provide goods or services to a state agency, and grants or other economic incentives awarded;
- The number of females employed by each contractor, person, or business entity to which the DAS Director issued a certificate;
- The number of audits conducted by the DAS Director under the bill;
- The processes contractors, persons, and business entities use to ensure compliance with the equal pay compliance statement;
- A summary of the DAS Director's auditing efforts under the bill.<sup>23</sup>

#### **Definitions – equal pay certificates**

The bill defines the following additional terms for the equal pay certificate portion of the bill:

"Business entity" means a corporation, partnership, association, firm, sole proprietorship, limited liability corporation, limited liability partnership, or other entity engaged in business.

"Contractor" means any person who undertakes to construct, alter, erect, improve, repair, demolish, remove, dig, or drill any part of a public improvement under a contract and includes a construction manager, construction manager at risk, and design-build firm as those terms are defined in continuing law.

"Public improvement" means any construction, reconstruction, improvement, enlargement, alteration, demolition, or repair of a building, highway, drainage system, water

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> R.C. 4145.06.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> R.C. 4145.08.

system, road, street, alley, sewer, ditch, sewage disposal plant, water works, and any other structure or work of any nature by a state agency.<sup>24</sup>

#### **Prospective employees' past wages or salary**

The bill generally prohibits a public employer or a private employer with four or more employees from doing either of the following:

- Seeking information about a prospective employee's past wages or salary from the prospective employee or the prospective employee's current or former employer;
- Requiring a prospective employee's prior wages or salary to meet certain criteria (see COMMENT 1).<sup>25</sup>

The employer may, however, investigate or confirm a prospective employee's wage or salary history when either of the following applies:

- The prospective employee has voluntarily disclosed to the employer the prospective employee's wage or salary history;
- The employer has made an offer of employment with compensation to the prospective employee.

A prospective employee who has reasonable cause to believe that an employer has violated the prohibitions above may file a written complaint with the Ohio Civil Rights Commission. On receiving a complaint, the Commission may investigate the employer to determine whether it is probable that a violation has occurred.

If, after an investigation, the Commission determines it is probable that the employer has violated the prohibitions, the Commission must provide notice and hold a hearing in accordance with the Administrative Procedure Act. After the hearing, if the Commission determines that the employer violated the prohibitions, it must order the employer to successfully complete a remedial training course conducted by the Commission to educate the employer on appropriate hiring practices. The employer must complete the course not later than six months after the date on which the employer received the Commission's order. If the offending employer fails to successfully complete the remedial training course within that time period, or if the Commission determines it is probable after an investigation that an offending employer has committed a second or subsequent violation within two years after the first violation, the Commission may refer the matter to the Attorney General for a lawsuit in a state court. The Attorney General may seek any relief the Attorney General considers necessary to enforce the prohibitions, including the Attorney General's costs.

The Commission must adopt rules, in accordance with the Administrative Procedure Act, to develop and administer the employment practices remedial training course. The Commission

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> R.C. 4145.01, by reference to R.C. 9.33 and 153.65, not in the bill.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> R.C. 4113.12, by reference to R.C. 4112.01, not in the bill.

must maintain indefinitely a list of offending employers that have successfully completed the course.

A decision and order issued by the Commission is final but is subject to review under the Administrative Procedure Act, and it may be appealed to the Franklin County Court of Common Pleas.<sup>26</sup>

# **Retaliation for discussing wages**

The bill prohibits an employer from discharging or otherwise retaliating against an employee because that employee has discussed the employee's salary or wage rate with another employee (see **COMMENT** 3). This prohibition applies to public and private employers, regardless of size.<sup>27</sup>

### Bill title

This bill is known as the "Ohio Equal Pay Act."28

# COMMENT

1. The bill's public employer pay equity requirement and prohibitions regarding prospective employee wage or salary history may not apply to municipal corporations. Similarly, the bill may not apply to a charter county that has adopted, in its charter, authority to exercise powers vested by the constitution or laws of Ohio in municipalities, i.e. has adopted municipal home rule authority.<sup>29</sup> The Home Rule Amendment to Ohio's Constitution grants a municipal corporation authority over matters of local self-government and local police, sanitary, and other regulations that are not in conflict with general laws of the state.<sup>30</sup> Courts have considered compensation and municipal employee qualifications to be a matter of local self-government.<sup>31</sup>

However, Article II, Section 34 of the Ohio Constitution (Section 34) allows the General Assembly to enact laws providing for the "health, safety, and general welfare of all employees" and provides that "no other provision of the constitution shall impair or limit this power."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> R.C. 4113.12 and 4112.04.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> R.C. 4113.42, by reference to R.C. 4113.51, not in the bill.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Section 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> Ohio Const., art. X, sec. 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> Ohio Const., art. XVIII, sec. 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> See United Brotherhood of Teamsters, Chauffeurs, Warehouseman, and Helpers, Local Union No. 377 v. City of Youngstown, 64 Ohio St.2d 158, 160 (1980)(compensation) and State ex rel. Paluf v. Feneli, 69 Ohio St.3d 138, 141-142 (1994) (requirements for employment).

Courts have held that laws passed under Section 34 supersede conflicting regulations adopted under a municipal corporation's or charter county's home rule authority.<sup>32</sup>

2. The bill disciplines a contractor, person, or business entity for failing to comply with the bill's requirement to obtain an equal pay certificate or an exemption. However, the actual duty to comply with the bill, that is, the duty not to award a contract or economic incentive to an entity that does not have a certificate, applies to the state. It is not clear how this portion of the bill will be implemented.

3. The National Labor Relations Act (NLRA),<sup>33</sup> which governs private sector labor relations, currently provides most private sector employees with protection against retaliation for discussing a salary or wage with another employee.<sup>34</sup> Section 7 of the NLRA prescribes several activities that are protected by the NLRA, including the ability to meet and confer and discuss compensation and benefits. Section 8 of the NLRA lists prohibited activities for an employer or a union; these activities are referred to as unfair labor practices. While the NLRA does not explicitly address preemption of state laws, one of the tests the U.S. Supreme Court has developed for NLRA preemption analysis, *Garmon* preemption, prohibits state and local regulation of activities that are prohibited or protected under Section 7 or 8 of the NLRA.<sup>35</sup> Because the bill prohibits activity also prohibited by the NLRA, a question could be raised as to whether the bill's prohibition on retaliation for discussing wages is preempted.

# HISTORY

Action	Date
Introduced	03-24-21

H0232-I-134/ts

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> See Lima v. State, 122 Ohio St.3d 155, 2009-Ohio-2597.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> 29 U.S.C. 151, et seq.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> 29 U.S.C. 157 and 158.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> San Diego Bldg. Trades Council v. Garmon, 359 U.S. 236, 244 (1959).